
For any apologies or requests for further information, or to arrange to speak at the meeting 
Contact:  Gaynor Hawthornthwaite  
Tel: 01270 686467 
E-Mail: gaynor.hawthornthwaite@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
  

 

Northern Planning Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Wednesday, 25th April, 2012 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Venue: Heritage Centre, Roe Street, Macclesfield SK11 6UT 
 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
Please note that members of the public are requested to check the Council's 
website the week the Planning/Board meeting is due to take place as Officers 
produce updates for some or all of the applications prior to the commencement of 
the meeting and after the agenda has been published. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest/Pre Determination   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any personal and/or 

prejudicial interests and for Members to declare if they have a pre-determination in respect of 
any item on the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes of the Meeting   
 
 To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 4th April 2012 as a correct record. 

 
4. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



5. Public Speaking   
 
 A total period of 5 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for Ward 

Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee. 
 
A period of 3 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the following 
individuals/groups: 
 

• Members who are not members of the planning committee and are not the Ward 
Member 

• The relevant Town/Parish Council 
• Local Representative Groups/Civic Society 
• Objectors 
• Supporters 
• Applicants 

 
6. 11/1803M - White Peak Alpaca Farm, Paddock Hill Lane, Mobberley WA16 7DB: 

Erection of Dwelling  (Pages 9 - 24) 
 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
7. 11/3269M - Windmill Wood, Chelford Road, Ollerton, Knutsford, Cheshire WA16 

8RX: Proposed New Dwelling in Association with Existing Managed Woodland 
Business  (Pages 25 - 34) 

 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Northern Planning Committee 
held on Wednesday, 4th April, 2012 at Meeting Room, Macclesfield Library, 

Jordangate, Macclesfield 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor B Moran (Chairman) 
Councillor W Livesley (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillors L Brown, B Burkhill, K Edwards, A Harewood, O Hunter, L Jeuda, 
P Raynes, D Stockton and L Roberts 
 
OFFICERS 
Mrs N Folan (Planning Solicitor) 
Mr P Hooley (Northern Area Manager – Development Management) 
Mr Neil Jones (Principal Development Officer) 
Mr P Jones (Democratic Services Team Manager)  

 
99 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Councillors C Andrew, H Gaddum, and P Hoyland, 
 

100 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST/PRE DETERMINATION  
 
Councillor Edwards declared a personal interest in respect of application number 
12/0515M on the grounds that both he and the applicant had served together as 
Town Councillors and were both members of the Bollington Civic Society. 
 
 

101 MINUTES OF THE MEETING  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 14th March 2012 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

102 PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the public speaking procedure be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4Page 1



 
103 12/0170C - LAND AT UPPER MEDHURST GREEN FARM, 

SANDBACH ROAD, CONGLETON, CHESHIRE: EXTENSION TO TIME 
ON APPROVAL 08/1838/FUL NEW AGRICULTURAL BUILDING FOR 
FREE RANGE EGG PRODUCTION  
 
(Councillor A Kolker (Neighbouring Ward Councillor) and Mr Smith (objector) 
attended the meeting and addressed the committee on this matter). 
 
The Committee considered a report regarding the above planning application, a 
site layout plan, and an oral report by the Planning Officer.  
 
The Planning Officer also gave a report on the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) was published on 27th March 2012. This document 
superseded other national planning guidance. At the heart of the NPPF was a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. Every local planning authority 
would need to have demonstrable reasons for refusal based on significant 
impacts arising from a development proposal. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That for the reasons set out in the report, the application to extend the approval 
on 08/1838/ be APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Standard 3 years 
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans 
3. Details of any external illumination and lighting columns to be submitted and 
approved prior to commencement of development 
4. Details of materials and colour finish to be submitted prior to the 
commencement of development  
5. Details of a Landscaping scheme and replacement hedgerow (native 
species), behind visibility splays to be submitted and approved prior to the 
commencement of development 
6. Implementation of Landscaping Scheme 
7. All materials used in connection with the egg laying unit to be stored inside 
the building 
8. Drainage scheme for foul and surface water to be submitted and approved 
prior to commencement of development 
9. No development to commence until a scheme of acoustic enclosures of 
fans, compressors and equipment with the potential to cause noise are 
submitted and approved 
10. Details of construction details of roads within the site to be submitted and 
approved prior to the commencement of development 
11. Prior to the commencement of development a Management of Waste 
Produce Plan and a Maintenance and Inspection Plan to be submitted and 
approved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 
104 12/0224C - RUSHEY HEY, OAK LANE, NEWBOLD ASTBURY, 

CONGLETON, CW12 4RT: PROPOSED AGRICULTURAL WORKERS 
DWELLING  
 
(Councillor R Bailey (Ward Councillor), Councillor Carter (Chairman of Newbold 
Astbury cum Moreton Parish Council and Mr Howard Elliot (On behalf of the 
applicant) attended the meeting and addressed the committee on this matter). 
 
The Committee considered a report regarding the above planning application, a 
site layout plan, and an oral report by the Planning Officer. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That for the reasons set out in the report, the application be APPROVED subject 
to the following conditions: 
 

1. Standard 
2. Plans 
3. Materials 
4. Landscaping Submitted 
5. Landscaping Implemented 
6. Boundary Treatment 
7. Surfacing Materials 
8. Drainage 
9. Remove PD Rights 
10. Agricultural Worker 
11. Land Contamination 
12. Car Parking Spaces 
13. Timber Windows/Door 

 
 

105 11/4295N - WESTON HALL, MAIN ROAD, WESTON CW2 5ND: 
EXTENSION TO TIME LIMIT OF PLANNING PERMISSION PO8/1274 
FOR ONE DWELLING  
 
The Committee considered a report regarding the above planning application, a 
site layout plan, and an oral report by the Planning Officer.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
 
That for the reasons set out in the report, the application to extend the 
approval on P08/1274/ be APPROVED subject to the following conditions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



 
 
 

1. Standard Time Limit 
2. Plan References 
3. Materials 
4. Surfacing Materials 
5. Landscape to be Submitted 
6. Landscape to be Implemented 
7. Drainage Details to be Submitted and Approved 
8. Detailed Specification of all Renewable Energy Features 
9. Window Reveal Details to be Submitted and Approved 
10. Demolition of Existing Buildings 
11. Remove PD Rights – Extensions and Outbuildings 
12. Works to Stop if Protected Species Found 
13. No Trees Removed Other Than Those Specified in the 

Arboricultural Report 
14. Tree Protection Measures 
15. Boundary Treatment 
16. Tree/Vegetation Removal to Take Place Outside Bird Breeding 

Season 
17.  Detailed proposals for the incorporation of features into the 

scheme suitable for use by breeding birds. 
18 Survey for breeding birds if works take place within breeding 

season 
 
 

106 12/0515M - INGERSLEY VALE WORKS, INGERSLEY VALE, 
BOLLINGTON, MACCLESFIELD, CHESHIRE SK10 5BP: VARIATION 
OF CONDITION 41 RELATING TO THE APPROVED PLANS ON 
APPROVAL 08/0791P FOR DEMOLITION OF ALL BUILDINGS EXCEPT 
THE MILL, CONVERSION OF MILL TO 24NO. APARTMENTS AND 
ERECTION OF 24NO. APARTMENTS AND 18NO. TOWNHOUSES 
WITH ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING AND CAR PARKING  
 
(Mr David Hooley (Objector) and Mr Ben Pyecroft (On behalf of the applicant) 
attended the meeting and addressed the committee on this matter). 
 
The Committee considered a report regarding the above planning application and 
an oral report by the Planning Officer. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That for the reasons set out in the report, the application to vary Condition 41 
Relating to the Approved Plans on Approval for 08/0791P for Demolition of all 
Buildings Except the Mill, Conversion of Mill to 24no. Apartments and Erection of 
24no. Apartments and 18no. Townhouses with Associated Landscaping and Car 
Parking be APPROVED subject to: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



 
 
 
(a)  A revised Section 106 Agreement to secure: 
 

• Provision of 15 affordable housing units. 
• Commuted sum payment for the provision and/or improvement of public 

open space within the Bollington/Rainow area. 
• Management Company for the site to include each purchaser of a 

residential unit (for maintaining roadways, and other common parts of the 
site). 

 
(b)  And the following conditions: 
 

 
1. A03FP      -  Commencement of development                                                                  

2. A02EX      -  Submission of samples of building materials                                                

3. A03EX      -  Materials to match existing                                                                           

4. A10EX      -  Rainwater goods                                                                                           

5. A14EX      -  Specification of bonding of brickwork                                                           

6. A15EX      -  Specification of mortar mix                                                                           

7. A20EX      -  Submission of details of windows                                                                 

8. A21EX      -  Roof lights set flush                                                                                      

9. A11LS      -  Implementation of landscaping scheme submitted with 
application                                                                                                                                                          

10. A10LS      -  Additional landscaping details required                                                        

11. A01MC      -  Noise insulation                                                                                            

12. A02HA      -  Construction of access                                                                                 

13. A04HA      -  Vehicular visibility at access to be approved                                                

14. A06HA      -  Pedestrian visibility at access in accordance plans to 
be approved                                                                                                                      

15. A07HA      -  No gates - new access                                                                                                                

16. A12HA      -  Closure of access                                                                                                      

17. A15HA      -  Construction of highways - submission of details                                                         

18. A24HA      -  Provision / retention of service facility                                                          

19. A26HA      -  Prevention of surface water flowing onto highways                                     

20. A30HA      -  Protection of highway from mud and debris                                                 

21. A32HA      -  Submission of construction method statement                                             

22. A06HP      -  Use of garage / carport                                                                                 

23. A07HP      -  Drainage and surfacing of hardstanding areas                                            

Page 5



24. A22GR      -  Protection from noise during construction (hours of 
construction)                                                                                                                      

25. A19MC      -  Refuse storage facilities to be approved                                                      

26. A23MC      -  Details of ground levels to be submitted                                                      

27. A01GR      -  Removal of permitted development rights                                                   

28. Aboricultural Works in accordance with submission 

29.  Woodland Management Plan to be submitted 

30.  Archaeological Programme of work 

31.  Decontamination of Land 

32.  Traffic calming details to be approved 

33.  Parking in accordance with approved plan 

34.  Details of highways, footways and cycleways to be approved 

35.  Details of non reflective materials to be submitted 

36.  Constuction of hydro-electric scheme 

37.  Signage for 'ramblers' parking area 

38.  Development in accordance with ecological report 

39.  A06NC      -  Protection for breeding birds           

40.  Proposals for biodiversity enhancement to be submitted                                                 

41.  A01AP      -  Development in accord with approved plans  

 

 
 
 
 

107 12/0290M - VINCENT MILL, VINCENT STREET, MACCLESFIELD 
SK11 6UJ: (OUTLINE) DEMOLITION OF THE EXISTING BUILDINGS 
AND REDEVELOPMENT OF THE SITE TO PROVIDE 10NO. 2 TO 4 
BEDROOM TERRACED HOUSES AND 1 NO.2/3 STOREY 
APARTMENT BLOCK WITH 7 NO.2 BEDROOM UNITS WITH 
ANCILLARY CAR PARKING, OPEN SPACE AND ACCESS OFF 
VINCENT STREET  
 
The Committee considered a report regarding the above planning application and 
an oral report by the Planning Officer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



 
RESOLVED 
 
That for the reasons set out in the report, the application be APPROVED 
subject to:- 
 
(a) A Section 106 Agreement to secure: 
 

• A commuted sum of £51,000 for provision of Outdoor Space. 
• Provision of 5 affordable houses which are made up of 3 units 

for social rent and 2 units for intermediate tenure. 
 
(b)  And the following conditions: 
 
 

1. A01OP      -  Submission of reserved matters   

2. A02OP      -  Implementation of reserved matters  

3. A03OP      -  Time limit for submission of reserved matters    

4. A23MC      -  Details of ground levels to be submitted   

5. A02AP      -  Detail on plan overridden by condition  

6. A12HA      -  Closure of access  

7. A05HA      -  Pedestrian visibility at access (dimensions)  

8. Contaminated land  

9. Commencement  

10. Scaled parameters  

11. Details of layout to include parking provision of 150% 

 
 
 

108 APPEALS RECORD IN JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2012  
 
The Committee considered a summary of appeals for the first two months of 
2012. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Committee  
 
(1) notes the Council’s appeals performance for January and February 2012 (77.77%) and 

its success in most instances in defending planning appeals; and 
 
(2) requests that the issue of planning appeals be included as part of the training 

programme for 2012/13.  
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 
The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 4.15 pm 

 
 
 

Councillor B Moran (Chairman) 
 

 

Page 8



 
   Application No: 11/1803M 

 
   Location: WHITE PEAK ALPACA FARM, PADDOCK HILL LANE, MOBBERLEY, 

WA16 7DB 
 

   Proposal: ERECTION OF DWELLING 
 

   Applicant: 
 

MR & MRS A HODGSON, WHITE PEAK ALPACA 

   Expiry Date: 
 

22-Jun-2011 

 
 
Date Report Prepared: 11 April 2012 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
REASON FOR REPORT 
 
The application was previously considered by Members at the Northern Planning Committee 
on 2 November 2011, where it was resolved to approve the application subject to conditions 
and the prior completion of a section 106 legal agreement requiring the demolition of Ivy 
Cottage.  However, the s106 agreement has not been signed and the applicants have now 
submitted a Counsel opinion of the reasonableness of the Council’s specific resolution to 
approve.  Given this position and the applicant’s reluctance to sign up to the legal agreement, 
the application now needs to be reconsidered by the Committee. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The application site comprises a timber dwelling under a felt tiled roof.  It forms part of the 
wider agricultural holding of White Peak Alpaca Farm. The site is located within the Green 
Belt as identified in the Macclesfield Borough Local Plan. 
 
DETAILS OF PROPOSAL 
 
Whilst the description of development on the application form states “Erection of dwelling”, the 
application actually seeks full planning permission to retain the existing temporary agricultural 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION  
Approve subject to conditions 
 
MAIN ISSUES 
• Whether the proposal is appropriate development in the Green Belt and if 
not whether there are any very special circumstances that would outweigh 
any harm caused by inappropriateness and any other harm 

• Whether the visual impact of the proposal is acceptable 
 

Agenda Item 6Page 9



workers dwelling (originally granted for a 3 year period until 28 September 2008) on the site 
indefinitely.  
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
09/3006M - Renew consent to retain dwelling (Resubmission of 09/0256M) -  Refused 
18.01.2010, Appeal dismissed 16.07.2010 
 
09/2640M - Creation of new access track (determination) - Approval not required 16.09.2009 
 
09/0256P - Renew consent to retain dwelling (mobile home) resubmission of 08/2046P - 
Refused 20.05.2009       
 
08/2046P - Renewal of 05/2623p to allow retention of mobile home for occupation by an 
agricultural worker - Refused  24.10.2008      
 
05/2623P - 1no. mobile home - Approved with conditions 16.12.2005     
 
05/1853P - Proposed mobile home for an agricultural worker (outline) -Approved with 
conditions 28.09.2005      
 
In December 2009 an enforcement notice was served which requires the timber dwelling to 
be removed from the site by 9 July 2010.  An appeal against the enforcement notice was 
dismissed and the notice was upheld with correction and variation.  The notice came into 
effect on 16 July 2011. 
 
POLICIES 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy 
 
RDF4 Green Belts 
DP1 Spatial Principles 
 
Local Plan Policy 
 
BE1 Design Guidance 
GC1 New Buildings   
DC1 Design 
DC3 Amenity 
DC6 Circulation and Access 
DC23 Permanent Agricultural Dwellings 
 
Other Material Considerations 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 
 
Environmental Health – No objection 

Page 10



 
Strategic Highways Manager – No objection 
 
United Utilities – No objection 
 
VIEWS OF THE PARISH / TOWN COUNCIL 
 
Mobberley Parish Council – Strongly object on the following grounds: 

• Inappropriate development in the greenbelt and the proposed dwelling reduces the 
openness of the site within the greenbelt.  

• No very special circumstances have been demonstrated or are considered to exist to 
allow planning permission to be granted.   

• The proposed development by reason of its size, siting and design forms a visually 
obtrusive feature which detracts from the rural character and appearance of the area 
within which it is located. 

• In view of the close proximity of Ivy Cottage we do not feel that the application for a 
new dwelling is necessary in order for the applicants to look after the Alpaca herd. 

• We would add that the application site edged in red we do not consider to be 
residential curtilage. 

 
Chorley Parish Council - Evident from the comments made by each individual Parish 
Councillor that there are a variety of concerns, comments and support both for and against 
the proposal.  It has therefore been agreed that we should not begin to debate these views, 
we should submit them to you verbatim in order to aid your own deliberations.   
2 Parish Councillors supported the proposal, 1 opposed and 1 remained neutral but felt that 
they should support Mobberley Parish Council.  
  
 
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
11 letters of representation have been received from residents of Wilmslow, Alderley Edge, 
Mobberley and Macclesfield objecting to the proposal on the following grounds: 

• Inappropriate development in the Green Belt 
• Applicants could use their other property at Ivy Cottage 
• Dwelling is out of keeping with surrounding properties 
• Enforcement notice should be upheld 
• 24 hour on site care is not required 
• Insufficient land to support stated herd size 
• Revocation of land that is currently rented would be fatal to business plan 
• Stocking ratio for alpacas is 4 to 5 per acre 
• Whilst applicants may have 55 breeding alpacas, only 8-10 crias born in a year 
• Inspector did not rule out the use of Ivy Cottage 
• Many items previously not included in accounts 
• Since 2005 alpaca numbers increased from 50 to 100, but labour requirement remains 
the same 

• Other casual labour does exist on the holding – can this be afforded? 
• How much does the shop contribute to profit? 
• £100,000 milling machine not previously shown on accounts 

Page 11



• Is recently acquired machinery included in accounts? 
• Applicant states that there was a deliberate policy of not selling.  If so where has profit 
come from?  Shop? 

• Query independent valuation. 
• Is any money reinvested back into the business? 
• Not in the interests of transparency to hold accounts back from public view. 
 

APPLICANT'S SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
A supporting letter, Design & Access Statement and a report on the long term financial 
viability of the business accompany the application. 
 
In summary, the supporting letter notes that a detailed and up to date financial appraisal has 
been carried out since the July 2010 appeal decision.  This addresses the concerns of the 
Inspector and the supplementary queries of the case officer.  This confirms that the White 
Peak Alpaca Business is based on sound principles, has met its targets and demand for 
products remains and is expanding.  The business has clear prospects of remaining 
financially viable in the future.  Since this last appeal decision Cheshire East Council has 
approved permanent consent for a small Alpaca enterprise. In addition an Inspector has 
granted consent on appeal for another Alpaca enterprise in this same Green Belt.   
 
It is clear that the need for a dwelling is capable of outweighing definitional harm and any 
other harm to the Green Belt.  The Council is invited to grant permanent consent to retain 
Cedar Lodge on a permanent basis with an agricultural tie and any other suitable conditions. 
 
The financial report concludes the following: 

• The business is still financially viable after allowing for the depreciation of fixed assets. 
• The business is still financially viable after allowing for an agricultural wage to be paid 
from the net profit of the business. 

• The business will continue to develop given that breeding females are at their optimum 
capacity for the size of the holding. 

• The issue of the long term certainty of rented land has been   addressed and the 
concerns over the ability of the business to obtain additional land in the future. 

• The situation with regard to the suggested decline in the value of alpacas has been 
addressed. 

• The role of the shop and other areas of diversification has been investigated. 
• It has demonstrated that through additional financial information that, taking account of 
all of the above concerns, the business is still profitable and financially viable. 

• Financial projections have been provided that clearly show the business is capable of 
sustaining that profitability in the long term and at the very least has a reasonable 
prospect of remaining financially sound in the future. 

• The business has grown in line with the original plan and the report indicates the main 
objectives of the business over the next five year period. 

In every respect the applicants have met the requirement to demonstrate that their business 
has clear prospects of remaining financially sound in the future. 
 

Page 12



The legal opinion that has now been submitted advises that the resolution requiring an 
agricultural occupancy condition and a s106 agreement to demolish Ivy Cottage was 
unreasonable. 
 
The accompanying supporting letter notes that the applicants would be willing to trade off Ivy 
Cottage in return for keeping Cedar Lodge (the proposed dwelling) with no occupancy 
condition or, seek to retain Cedar Lodge with an agricultural occupancy condition and retain 
Ivy Cottage.  As consent is being sought to retain an agricultural dwelling and consent is not 
sought to replace an existing dwelling on another parcel of land, they consider the latter 
option to be the correct and proper approach to be followed. 
 
OFFICER APPRAISAL 
 
Principle of Development 
The erection of a new dwelling in the Green Belt is an inappropriate form of development in 
the Green Belt that will reduce openness.  However, meeting the functional and financial tests 
as set out Local Plan policy DC23 may amount to the very special circumstances required to 
outweigh the harm by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm.  Additionally it would 
need to be demonstrated that the need cannot be met by any other existing accommodation 
in the area. 
 
Given the particular circumstances of this application, the Council engaged the services of 
Reading Agricultural Consultants to advise on the merits of the submission.  Their comments 
are incorporated into this report. 
 
Green Belt / Justification 
Paragraph 89 of the NPPF and Local Plan policy GC1 state that the construction of new 
buildings in the Green Belt is inappropriate unless it is for, amongst other things, agriculture 
and forestry and GC1 states that the provision of new dwellings will be subject to the 
principles contained in Policy GC6 which refers to the siting of the dwelling.  
 
Paragraph 55 of the NPPF advises that new isolated new homes in the countryside should be 
avoided unless there are special circumstances such as, amongst other things, the essential 
need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside.  
Policy DC23 of the Local Plan sets out the following criteria that should be met in order for 
planning permission to be granted for a permanent agricultural dwelling in the countryside: 
 

• There is a long term need for the dwelling and it is essential to the efficient working of 
an existing agricultural activity on a well established agricultural unit (functional test). 

• The unit and agricultural activity have been established for at least three years, have 
been profitable for at least one of them, are currently financially sound, and have a 
clear prospect of remaining so (financial test). 

• The need cannot be met by another dwelling on the unit. 
• There are no buildings available for conversion. 
• The need cannot be met by any other existing accommodation in the area, and 
• The dwelling should be appropriately located and wherever possible should be sited 
within and designed in relation to a nearby group of dwellings or a farm complex. 

 

Page 13



Functional test 
The Inspector in the 2010 appeal noted, “Alpacas do not readily make outward signs of stress 
or illness or when they are about to give birth, an event which is itself neither seasonal nor 
predictable and can (contrary to objectors’ assertions) take place at any time of the day or 
night.  The value of the animals and their lengthy gestation period combine to give an added 
degree of importance to paying close attention to them at and around giving birth.  These 
various factors combine with the numbers of breeding female alpacas (the mainstay of the 
business) to amount to a likely requirement for ongoing supervision on a year-round basis”. 
 
The outline permission in 2005 identified a labour requirement of 1.5 workers and established 
a functional requirement for an agricultural worker’s dwelling at the site.  At that time the 
applicant had a herd of approximately 50 Alpacas.  At the time of the appeal the numbers had 
increased to 90, including 55 breeding females, and the 1.5 worker requirement continued to 
be the estimated need.   
 
In re-visiting the functional test, there would be only two significant reasons for departing from 
the conclusions reached as a consequence of the determination of the planning application 
for temporary worker’s accommodation or the conclusions of the appeal.  Those reasons 
would relate to either a substantive change in the nature of the relevant enterprise such that 
the need for the supervisory presence of a worker was diminished or no longer necessary, or 
the scale of the enterprise had reduced to a level which no longer required a full-time worker.  
Neither of these reasons apply to the circumstances at the applicant’s holding. 
 
It is therefore considered that due to the supervisory requirements of alpaca breeding and 
rearing there is a long term need for the dwelling and it is essential to the efficient working of 
the existing agricultural activity on a well established agricultural unit.  As stated above, this 
view was shared by the Inspector, and is also in line with the Council’s view of an alpaca 
holding in North Rode and by a further Inspector on a site in Mottram St Andrew. 
 
Other existing accommodation in the area 
The location plan identifies a building at the eastern side of the land under the control of the 
applicants.  This building is Ivy Cottage, which is a dilapidated property that is partly owned by 
Mrs Hodgson and her two sisters-in-law who reside in Australia.  During the appeal Mr 
Hodgson confirmed the fact that it was only partly owned did not form a barrier to the plot 
being available.   
 
It is the presence of this property, immediately adjacent to the main holding that previously led 
to the suggestion that there was other accommodation in the area that could potentially meet 
the functional needs of the enterprise.  It was on this basis that the recommendation requiring 
an occupancy condition, and the demolition of Ivy Cottage was put forward by officers to the 
Committee in November 2011.  After having sought a legal opinion, the applicants consider 
that it is unreasonable for the Council to impose an occupancy condition and require the 
demolition of Ivy Cottage, and therefore the legal agreement remains unsigned, and the 
Committee are left with the following options in order for a decision to be issued on the 
application: 
 
1. Approve the application subject to an agricultural occupancy condition, allowing Ivy 

Cottage to remain. 

Page 14



2. Approve the application subject to the demolition of Ivy Cottage without an 
occupancy condition 

3. Refuse the application on the grounds that Ivy Cottage could meet the functional 
requirement of the holding, and therefore the tests within policy DC23 are not met. 

 
Given that this application seeks permission to retain the existing agricultural dwelling, and 
does not seek consent to replace an existing dwelling on another parcel of land, option 2 is 
not considered to be an appropriate option.  This option would effectively be granting 
permission for an unrestricted replacement dwelling which, as the applicant has highlighted 
within their Counsel opinion, would be subject to different policy considerations to those 
outlined within this report and in the Inspector’s decision.   
 
The submitted Counsel opinion also suggests that neither the Inspector nor the Council had 
appreciated the stance of Mr Hodgson regarding the agricultural occupancy condition and the 
demolition of Ivy Cottage.  The applicant appears to accept that either of these factors / 
restrictions may contribute towards the very special circumstances case being considered, 
but only on an either / or basis, not both together.  Given that this is an application for an 
agricultural worker’s dwelling in the Green Belt, an occupancy condition would automatically 
apply otherwise if permission were granted it would be for an unrestricted permanent dwelling 
in the countryside.  The recommendation for the demolition of Ivy Cottage arose at least in 
part from the “trade off for Ivy Cottage” comments put forward in the applicant’s supporting 
statement with the application and their acceptance of a commitment to demolish Ivy Cottage 
at the appeal hearing referred to in the Inspector’s decision (at paragraph 17).  This was 
simply in line with how the application was submitted, and previously considered.  
 
Now that the applicant has made his position clear with regard to these matters the 
Committee needs to form a view on this “clarified” application.  Therefore, the issue of 
whether option 1 or option 3 (above) is recommended turns on whether or not Ivy Cottage 
meets the functional requirement of the holding.    
      
The issue of Ivy Cottage was examined at length by the Inspector.  He notes that its 
demolition would compensate for any loss of openness arising from the retention of the Cedar 
Lodge.  He considers this could be the subject of a condition.  However, as the Counsel 
opinion highlights, there is no normal requirement within policy DC23 to require any new 
dwelling to be compensated for with the loss of an existing building, and this is not a normal 
requirement for such an application.  It is usual for compliance with the criteria in policy DC23 
to amount to the very special circumstances required to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt 
by reason of inappropriateness and inevitable loss of openness.  The proposed dwelling is not 
unduly harmful in openness terms to warrant a different approach to be taken in this case. 
 
The Inspector considered that for the holding to function efficiently the dwelling should be 
reasonably close to the barn, which provides a shelter for the animals in the winter and pens 
for sick animals.  The barn could be relocated closer to Ivy Cottage, but the cost of this 
relocation and the renovation of Ivy Cottage / or relocation of the application property would 
be beyond what the business could afford.  In addition he raises concerns over the visibility 
provided by Ivy Cottage due to an intervening hedge, how supervision from there would 
require “conscious breaks in household routines”, and the poor quality of the grazing land in 
this area.  These factors would work against the efficient running of the holding, which led the 
Inspector to question its suitability.  He concludes by stating that whilst he does question the 

Page 15



suitability of Ivy Cottage, “that factor alone, given its proximity to the holding and in spite of its 
disadvantages, does not persuade me that it should be discounted as an alternative location.”  
However, taking into account the costs involved in relocating to Ivy Cottage (between £165 - 
£180,000), he states that it is not a realistic alternative location.  
 
The agricultural consultant engaged by the Council, who viewed the proposal together with 
the up to date financial appraisal, also considers this to be a reasonable conclusion.  Whilst 
the Committee report from November 2011 stated that Ivy Cottage could meet a functional 
need, having had the opportunity to review all the submitted information together with the 
Counsel opinion, it is considered to be unreasonable to require the demolition of Ivy Cottage 
in addition to an agricultural occupancy condition.  Given the Inspector’s view and that of the 
Council’s appointed agricultural consultant, even with the updated financial information, it is 
considered that a refusal solely on the grounds that Ivy Cottage meets the functional 
requirement of the holding cannot be justified.  Option 3 is therefore discounted. 
 
Financial test 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework does not refer to any specific financial test in 
relation to a rural worker’s dwelling.  The test is that there should be an essential need for a 
rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside. Policy DC23 
of the Macclesfield Borough Local Plan requires financial viability of the agricultural enterprise 
to be demonstrated. It is considered that such a test is compatible with the guidance in the 
NPPF and that it makes sense that the financial viability should be part of the assessment as 
to whether there is an “essential need”.  As such policy DC23 of the Local Plan is considered 
to carry significant weight. 
 
The 2010 appeal was dismissed, and the enforcement notice upheld, because the Inspector 
considered that there was insufficient evidence to demonstrate that the business had clear 
prospects of remaining financially sound in the future. 
 
The financial test is established to examine this and has several components: 

(i) a 3-year establishment period for the agricultural activities and the related unit; 
(ii) profitability in one of the last 3 years; 
(iii) current financial soundness; 
(iv) prospective financial soundness. 

 
There is no dispute in relation to components (i) and (ii) of the financial test. However, as 
stated, the Inspector had concerns in relation to components (iii) and (iv), and to the longer 
term prospects of the farm business in particular. Specific issues raised in the decision letter 
related to the style and content of the financial statements presented in support of the 
financial test.  These included: 
 

(i) stock valuation – the method adopted was recognised as accepted to HMRC; 
(ii) shop – the exclusion of income and costs associated with on-site sales of products 
was questioned; 

(iii) depreciation – the absence of full accounting of depreciation of fixed assets was 
questioned; 

(iv) remuneration to unpaid labour – the ability of the business to make adequate future 
investment if labour was appropriately remunerated was questioned; 

Page 16



(v) stock numbers – concern expressed that stock numbers were at the capacity of the 
holding and the value of breeding stock was declining. 

 
These are matters which needed to be addressed within any resubmission, and which now 
form the content of a report on long-term viability prepared by the applicants’ accountants 
(Marshall & Co). 

 

In considering the financial evidence presented, due regard has been afforded to the 
guidance to Planning Inspectors that draws attention to the fact that the functional and 
financial tests “should be applied with common sense and in the light of the Court of Appeal 
judgement Petter and Harris v SSETR and Chichester DC 1999 where it was held that the 
financial viability test was only relevant in cases where the uncertain future of the agricultural 
business might lead to a non-conforming residential use that would pass with the land.” 

 
It has been normal practice nationally for planning authorities and planning Inspectors to set 
minimum thresholds for the application of the financial test in permanent dwelling cases.  
Namely an ability to give a return to unpaid labour at least equivalent to the minimum 
agricultural wage, to finance the build cost of the dwelling as either a finance charge or a 
return on own capital invested, and to be able to sustain continued business development.  
There is no prescribed formula for this approach, nor can there be within a policy area which 
seeks to encompass a wide range of occupational circumstances from wholly commercial 
enterprises at one end of the spectrum to subsistence or even non-commercial activities at 
the other.  The only consistent approach is to ensure that regard is had to the objectives of 
the policy in the context of the individual circumstances. 
 
The starting point for considering the sustainability of an enterprise is whether it generates a 
sufficient level of profit to adequately remunerate the unpaid labour of the principals engaged 
in it.  Normal practice is that for agricultural enterprises adequate remuneration is assessed in 
relation to the minimum agricultural wage. The profit and loss statement for 2009-2010 
included in Appendix 8 of the Marshall and Co report shows a net profit of £36,717. The 
typical cost of a worker during this period was £14,770 per annum, which would translate into 
an annual labour cost for White Peak Alpacas of £19,200. This would indicate that the 
business has achieved a level of profitability which can meet its labour costs.  The profit and 
loss statement also now allows for and includes the depreciation of fixed assets.  This is then 
supported by a detailed statement outlining how the depreciation of each fixed asset category 
is arrived at.   
 
There was interest in the appeal in relation to two contributory factors to the level of 
profitability.  Firstly, the income contribution coming from the farm shop, and secondly that 
which arises from increasing stock valuation.  Whilst the farm shop cannot contribute to the 
functional requirement for on-site supervision, it is not necessarily discounted as a contributor 
to the financial test.  The diversification of farm businesses is now a fundamental feature of 
rural policy, and primary producers are actively encouraged to add value to their products at 
the farm gate (paragraph 55 NPPF).  Where diversification of an enterprise comprises an 
ancillary extension to the core productive activity, the related income and cost streams are 
appropriately subsumed into the integrated business.  This is distinct from forms of 
diversification which introduce entirely unrelated, non-agricultural enterprises to a holding.  
 

Page 17



The Inspector did not reach a conclusion on the nature of the farm shop or its future role in 
the development of the business.  He considered that the stock appeared to originate 
primarily from the farm and left this as a matter for the Council to resolve. The Marshall’s 
report (Appendix 7) indicates that 80% of the shop revenue is derived from indigenous 
product.  However, it is undoubtedly the case that the farm shop has become a very 
significant element of the economics of the overall business accounting for 35% of income in 
2009-10.  This compares with the general picture of the contribution of farm diversification to 
farm incomes nationally and regionally of 14-15% (Farm Diversification in England: Results 
from the Farm Business Survey 2009-10. Defra 2011). 
 

Alpaca producers have three main potential products; breeding stock, fleeces and domestic 
pets. At the present time, the numbers of animals in the alpaca sector nationally are relatively 
small and considerable investment is being made by the main producers to breed animals 
which deliver high quality fleeces, with such animals continuing to command premium values.  
The volume of quality fleece is, however, below that which can sustain fibre and products on 
a substantial commercial scale.  Therefore, producers have either entered small supplier 
groups associated with specific processors, or have relied on their individual production and 
marketing efforts. In this latter respect, White Peak Alpacas is by no means unique in 
developing its own fibre products, nor is the proportional contribution of these to farm income 
surprising. 
 
The second issue attracting attention in the appeal was the significance of livestock valuation 
in the financial statements.  The value of stock on a holding at the beginning of a financial 
year and at the end will vary in relation to the numbers and types of animals involved and 
their value, which in market terms may have risen or fallen over the year. It is perfectly normal 
to include this factor as a contributor to gross output because it represents a store of potential 
income.  The difficulty from a planning perspective relating to farm dwelling applications 
arises when this factor is the difference between profitability and non-profitability in actual 
terms.  This has often been the case with newly established alpaca enterprises where stock 
has been retained rather than sold in order to build up breeding numbers, and the contribution 
of stock valuations to gross output have been substantial as market values of breeding stock 
have risen year on year.  It has been argued by some that the high values of stock in the 
alpaca sector are about to, or must inevitably, collapse, and that consequently the 
sustainability of enterprises in which stock valuation is a key element of profitability must be 
questioned. 
 

In this context, the profitability of White Peak Alpacas is not dependent upon the stock 
valuation factor, and the Council’s agricultural consultant confirms that there has not been a 
collapse in market conditions, nor is there any immediate likelihood of such a collapse.  The 
latest financial statement shows that the enterprise has a real income from stock sales and 
generates a profit on those sales.  That profit would be insufficient to cover labour costs, 
unless the profit from value added activity in the farm shop is added, and then only at a 
marginal level (c £16,000).  However, the stock valuation factor is not an optional extra and 
should legitimately be added into the consideration of profitability at which point the business 
goes substantially beyond a position of marginality (c£36,000).  To this extent, reliance on this 
notional element in the profit figure would only be of concern if its calculation was flawed in 
some way.  In this respect there is no reason to dispute the approach adopted by Marshall 
and Co and set out in Appendix 6 of their report: 

Page 18



 

(i) the market values of the White Peak Alpacas stock assessed by Marshall and 
Co are consistent with current generally applicable sale values for females 
animals being in the range £700 - £8,800 depending upon the type and age of 
animal; 

(ii) the deemed cost valuation approach is one accepted by HMRC as appropriate  
for farm livestock (cattle and sheep) and for other livestock with its agreement; 

(iii) the percentage (30%) of open market value to used as a reasonable estimate of 
deemed cost has been agreed by Marshall and Co with the HMRC, and cannot 
be construed as being an over-optimistic estimate. 

 
The Inspector was concerned that only financial projections to August 2011 had been 
submitted at the appeal, whereas an application for a permanent dwelling required a longer 
term view to be taken.  The applicants have therefore submitted projections to 2015, which 
appear reasonable.  However, perhaps more importantly, the enterprise has made all the 
investment necessary to re-locate White Peak Alpacas on the Paddock Hill Lane site and the 
business has a sound balance sheet.  It is not, therefore, at risk through any outstanding 
investment in new or replacement infrastructure, any deficiency in numbers of breeding 
animals, or any substantial financial liabilities.  These factors, in addition to market conditions, 
would be those most likely to influence the ability of the enterprise to progress over the 
immediate future.  Unlike most applicants for permanent workers accommodation the issue of 
an ability to fund and sustain the build cost of a proposed new dwelling does not apply to the 
same extent since the dwelling already exists, and consent is merely sought for its retention.  
Any cost associated with the demolition of Ivy Cottage would be relatively limited. 
 
It is therefore concluded that White Peak Alpacas is a soundly-based enterprise, albeit at a 
modest level, which has been sustained for a substantive period and exhibits no inherent and 
immediate threat its continued sustainability.  The appeal Inspector was, however, influenced 
by longer term concerns relating to declining values of stock and the role of the farm shop, 
and was unable conclude that clear prospects of continued financial soundness had been 
demonstrated.  The absence of a business plan exercised him in this respect. 
 

In the experience of the Council’s agricultural consultant, it unusual for farm businesses to 
present business plans as part of proposals for permanent dwellings, particularly where such 
plans have been accepted as part of the consideration of a previous application for temporary 
accommodation.  Normally appraisals would look to evidence of any underlying structural 
weakness in a business which might affect the immediate prospects of an enterprise, for 
example a highly negative imbalance between assets and liabilities or evidence of recent sale 
of productive assets in order to boost short-term profitability for planning purposes. There is 
no such evidence in the current case in which the enterprise has in recent years strengthened 
its productive base through the retention of home produced stock with an anticipation of 
increased future stock sales and related income, and has secured a healthy outlet for added 
value products.  An outlet for fleece related products would have been a long-term 
requirement irrespective of the market conditions for breeding stock.  The business model set 
out in the Marshall’s report is consistent with the original objectives of the business and 
realistic.   

 

Page 19



One concern that has been raised is the impact upon the business if the rented land became 
unavailable.  The applicants would not be able to maintain such a high number of animals if 
they were restricted to the grazing land that they own, which is between 8 and 13 acres, 
depending on the quality of the land taken into account.  This issue is noted, however, this 
was not a matter that specifically concerned the Inspector.  There has been no indication 
during the course of the appeal or the current application that the applicants could lose this 
rented land.  Furthermore, in the event that the rented land was lost there is no reason to 
doubt that it could not be replaced elsewhere.  It is also noted that there are other alpaca 
enterprises farms that operate with lower stock and smaller sites. 

 

Scepticism about the long term prospects of the UK alpaca sector has been based largely on 
an American academic assessment and has been tested on appeal in 2008. In this case the 
Inspector noted, “In the UK alpaca breeding is an emerging and developing sector and whilst 
market factors may result in a threshold being reached in respect of stock numbers and 
animal prices I see nothing to justify an assumption that the ‘bubble will burst’ in the near 
future”. 

 

This conclusion is still relevant. With the passage of time and despite the major down turn in 
the general economy, which was unforeseen at the time of the above decision, the UK alpaca 
sector has continued to grow and stock values have not reduced disproportionately relative to 
general economic pressures.  Consequently, there is not considered to be any clear evidence 
of external adverse trading conditions which might prejudice the prospects of White Peak 
Alpacas. 
 
Other planning requirements 
 
Character and appearance / openness of the Green Belt 
The dwelling is a single storey structure vertically clad in Western Red Cedar down to ground 
level. It has a felt tiled roof. The relatively compact external appearance of the structure is 
similar to that of a log cabin.  The building is not prominent from public vantage points and is 
significantly screened from Paddock Hill by an existing agricultural building.  Any glimpses 
that might be achieved will show the building within the context of this existing timber clad 
agricultural building.  The proposed dwelling is therefore not considered to have any 
significant impact upon the character of this Green Belt area.  No additional landscaping is 
considered to be necessary.    
 
As previously noted, however, the simple presence of the application building does serve to 
reduce the openness of the Green Belt in this location, which does add to the substantial 
harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness.   
 
Highways 
The dwelling will be served by the existing access from Paddock Hill which currently serves 
the agricultural building and the temporary dwelling.  The Strategic Highways Manager raises 
no objections to the proposal.  No significant highway safety issues are therefore raised. 
 
Amenity 

Page 20



Due to the existing relationship with neighbouring properties, no significant residential amenity 
issues are raised by the proposal. 
 
CONCLUSIONS AND REASON(S) FOR THE DECISION 
 
The Counsel opinion on the reasonableness of the Council’s previous resolution has been 
considered in the preceding text.  It is concluded that the demolition of Ivy Cottage, or a 
refusal of planning permission on the grounds that Ivy Cottage meets the functional 
requirement of the holding, cannot be justified.   
 
The erection of a dwelling in association with the existing agricultural unit is inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt, which causes further harm by a reduction in openness.  In 
terms of the tests of policy DC23 of the Local Plan, it is considered that: 
 

(i) the productive activity and the unit are well-established; 
 

(ii) there is a clearly established existing functional need for the key worker to be 
readily available; 

 
(iii) the functional need relates to a full-time worker; 

 
(iv) suitable existing accommodation in the immediate locality is not realistically 

available to meet the functional need for ready availability; 
 

(iii) the business has been profitable in recent years, and has a generally sound 
financial basis;  

 
(iv) the level of profitability has been sufficient to meet unpaid labour costs; 

 
(v) there are no perceived or clear identifiable threats to the continued sustainability 

of the enterprise in the foreseeable future arising from its structure or external 
market factors. 

 
This set of circumstances, notably that the proposal meets the functional and financial tests 
as set out in Local Plan policy DC23 is considered to amount to the very special 
circumstances required to outweigh the harm by reason of inappropriateness and loss of 
openness.  The information pertaining to the longer term financial soundness of the business 
is now considered to be adequately addressed and has been appraised by an Independent 
Agricultural Consultant employed by the Council. The balance is now considered to tip in 
favour of the application since the previously dismissed appeal. Accordingly, the application is 
recommended for approval subject to conditions including agricultural occupancy. 
 
 
Application for Full Planning 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve subject to following conditions 

 
1. A01AP      -  Development in accord with approved plans                                                                    

Page 21



2. A01GR      -  Removal of permitted development rights                                                                        

3. A09LP      -  Agricultural occupancy                                                                                                                                                            

4. Extent of domestic curtilage to be agreed                                                                                                                                          

Page 22



 
 

(c) Crown copyright and database rights 2012. Ordnance Survey 
100049045, 100049046. 

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



 
   Application No: 11/3269M 

 
   Location: WINDMILL WOOD, CHELFORD ROAD, OLLERTON, KNUTSFORD, 

KNUTSFORD, CHESHIRE, WA16 8RX 
 

   Proposal: PROPOSED NEW DWELLING IN ASSOCIATION WITH EXISTING 
MANAGED WOODLAND BUSINESS. 
 

   Applicant: 
 

MR & MRS ANDREW 

   Expiry Date: 
 

19-Oct-2011 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REASON FOR REPORT 
 
The application is before the Committee as it represents a departure from the Local Plan.  
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The application site is a small area of land, which forms part of the wider 17 hectare area of 
Windmill Wood to the south of Chelford Road. The site contains a single storey warehouse 
building and a number of open sided structures.  The remainder of the land is covered by 
woodland, which is also a Site of Biological Importance.  Two public footpaths are located 
within the site, one which follows the northern site boundary and one which crosses 
north/south through the site.  The site is located within the Green Belt as identified in the 
Macclesfield Borough Local Plan. 
 
DETAILS OF PROPOSAL 
 
This application seeks full planning permission to erect a new dwelling in association with the 
management of Windmill Wood.  
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION  
Approve subject to conditions and the prior completion of a legal agreement. 
 
MAIN ISSUES 
 
• Whether the proposal is inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 
• If it is inappropriate, whether there are any very special circumstances to 

justify the dwelling. 
• Impact upon the character and appearance of the countryside. 
• Impact upon the amenity of neighbouring property. 
• Whether the proposal would adversely impact on protected species. 
 

Agenda Item 7Page 25



 
The site has an extensive planning history involving applications for a variety of residential 
and commercial developments.  
 
The most relevant applications are detailed below. 
 
31026P – Agricultural dwelling – Refused 06.08.1982, Appeal dismissed 10.11.1983 
 
01/2130P – Certificate of lawfulness for a building used for the storage of shotgun cartridges 
and the storage/assembly of domestic appliances only. Positive Certificate 28.01.2002. 
 
05/1416P – Change of use of land for use for paintball games, erection of 2 marquees, 2 
tents, 3 shipping containers and 3 portable toilets. Refused 08.11.2005. 
 
09/0544M – Demolition of existing commercial buildings, residential/ office annex and 
attached garage, and the erection of three detached environmentally sustainable dwellings 
and associated works.  Refused 06.07.2009 
 
11/1115M - Proposed Erection of a Dwelling and Two Outbuildings in Association with the 
Management of Windmill Wood Including the Demolition of a Brick Built Warehouse, One 
Shed and Two Open Stores – Withdrawn 28.06.2011 
  
POLICIES 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy 
 
DP1 – Spatial Principles 
DP2 – Promote Sustainable Communities 
DP4 – Make the Best Use of Existing Resources and Infrastructure 
DP5 – Manage Travel Demand; reduce the need to travel and increase accessibility 
DP7 – Promote environmental quality 
DP9 – Reduce emissions and adapt to climate change 
RDF4 – Green Belts 
 
Local Plan Policy 
 
NE7 – Woodlands 
NE11 – Nature Conservation 
NE13 – Nature Conservation 
BE1 – Design Guidance 
BE16 – Setting of Listed Buildings 
GC1 – New Buildings 
H1 – Phasing Policy 
H2 – Environmental Quality in Housing Developments 
H5 – Windfall Sites 
DC1 – New Build 
DC3 – Amenity 
DC6 – Circulation and Access 
DC8 – Landscaping 

Page 26



DC9 – Tree protection 
DC38 – Space, light and privacy 
 
Other Material Considerations 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 
 
Strategic Highways Manager – No comment or objection to make on the proposal 
 
Environmental Health – No objections subject to condition requiring a phase 1 contaminated 
land survey 
 
Public Rights of Way – No objections 
 
Manchester Airport – No safeguarding objections 
 
VIEWS OF THE PARISH / TOWN COUNCIL 
 

Knutsford Town Council - Object on the grounds that the development does not meet the 
functional test for a dwelling in the Green Belt. 

 
Ollerton with Marthall Parish Council – Believe the application goes a long way towards 
accommodating the suggestions already put to you by the Parish Council and some local 
people, in correspondence.  A very tight 106 Agreement would ensure that any new dwelling 
is tied to the care and management of the wood. 
We have also had another site visit and meeting with the local residents who still have some 
concerns. 
1) They continue to have doubts about the future management of the wood because, from 
their experience, it has not been well managed in the past.  They give as an example, fallen 
trees that are causing obstructions by blocking paths. 
2) They continue to be unhappy with the noise levels, particularly from the metal and wood 
cutting machines. 
3) They request that if planning permission is given for this dwelling, can there be a condition 
whereby the existing dilapidated buildings are demolished 
4) Like many people in the village who have an interest in the future of the wood, they request 
that you arrange for the 106 Agreement to be watertight re ownership of the dwelling being 
tied to the long term care and management of the wood. 
 
Plumley with Toft & Bexton Parish Council - There is empty property nearby, so there is no 
conviction that a new build within green belt land is necessary. There appears to be no 
extraordinary need for the application to be granted.  When business accounts stretching 3 
years are available they will show the business is viable and could possibly warrant a house.  
The applicant states that the house is transportable. It is too large to transport, except in 
component form: a mobile home would be more appropriate for this enterprise. If the business 
fails, who pays to demolish and remove the house?  The proposed new build is close to a 
very dangerous corner. 

Page 27



 
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
24 letters of representation have been received from a local residents and interested parties.  
15 of these letters, and a petition signed by 11 further local residents on Manor Lane, object 
to the proposal on the following grounds: 

• Provision of dwelling for a worker to maintain wood is not a valid argument as wood is 
so small 

• Workers could live off site 
• Not convinced of sustainability of wood as a business 
• Little input to sustain the current woodland by the present owners and suddenly 

attached to this planning application is the desire to develop the business 
• Previous attempts to get permission for dwelling have been unsuccessful 
• Woodland not in need of management 
• Alarm systems could be used for security 
• Crime in the area is overstated in the application 
• Why did applicant sell his house on the edge of the woodland a short time ago? 
• Kerfield Lodge is now back on the market, and if purchased would avoid the need for a 

new dwelling in the Green Belt. 
• Detrimental to natural habitat, wildlife and trees 
• Impact upon highway safety. 
• Contrary to Green Belt policies 
• The application is not an exceptional circumstance 
• The development would set a precedent. 
• Woodland is of Special Scientific Interest 
• Any increase in number of septic tanks in the area is likely to exacerbate existing 

problems. 
• Windmill Wood does not have the required acreage or stock of timber to make it 

commercially viable. 
• Windmill Wood management has been limited to the removal of fallen trees, branches 

and selective felling.  Arguable that this woodland can be left to self manage without 
human intervention. 

• Applicants have previously allowed extensive paintball activities to damage the 
woodland they now want to preserve and manage. 

• No need for an additional building 
 

8 of the letters support the proposal, or raise no objection, noting that: 
• Dwelling would not look out of place and could easily be taken down 
• Woodland management plan functional to the site 
• Forestry Commission recognises that British woodlands make large contribution to 

meet growing demand for wood. 
• Will ensure continued existence of the wood for generations 
• The application will allow the forest to be continually maintained, to the benefit of the 

woodland and wildlife. 
• Toft Church has received considerable cost saving support and assistance from the 

applicant in maintaining the grounds. 
• Toft (Windmill) Wood is part of Knutsford’s history. 

Page 28



• For many years members of the Scouting Association in the Knutsford District have 
used parts of Windmill Wood to practice. 

• Without these facilities the scouts would have to travel considerable distances to 
practice outdoor scouting activities. 

• Security breaches are an important consideration 
 
 
APPLICANT'S SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
The applicant has submitted a design and access statement, a planning statement, a bat and 
barn owl survey, an arboricultural statement with woodland management plan a climate 
change statement and a draft unilateral undertaking.       The planning statement outlines the 
following: 

• A small business producing logs, planks, woodchips and sawdust will be created 
(Business plan appended to planning statement) 

• Dwelling will provide essential accommodation required for safe and efficient working 
of woodland management and woodland business. 

• Site for proposed dwelling discussed with Council’s Forestry Officer. 
• Proposal offers significant ecological enhancement measures. 

 
OFFICER APPRAISAL 
  
Design / character 
The proposed dwelling will take the form of a dormer bungalow, constructed in Canadian pine 
with a slate roof, which would be suited to its woodland setting.  There are a variety of 
properties along Manor Lane, and the dwelling will not be unduly prominent from public 
vantage points.  Consequently there is not considered to be any significant impact upon the 
character of the area arising from the proposed dwelling. 
  
In addition, due to the distance to and the extent of intervening vegetation, the proposal is not 
considered to have a significant impact upon the setting of the Listed Building on the adjacent 
site.  
 
Amenity 
The dwelling will be located over 60 metres from the nearest residential property, with 
significant vegetation in between.  Therefore, having regard to the distance to, and 
relationship with, the nearest neighbouring dwellings no significant amenity issues are raised. 
  
Ecology 
The application site is located within the Windmill Wood Site of Biological Importance.   Local 
Plan policy NE13, which restricts development that would adversely affect the SBI, is 
applicable to the determination of this application.  The Nature Conservation Officer has 
commented on the application and advises that the proposed dwelling will not have a 
significantly adverse impact upon any habitats of nature conservation importance.   
 
The application is supported by a woodland management plan, the implementation of which 
would be beneficial for the SBI.  The management plan makes reference to the treatment of 
the on-site wetland however no detailed proposals have been provided.  Furthermore, the 

Page 29



management plan also specified the use of herbicide, which may not be appropriate within the 
SBI.   
 
The use of herbicide has therefore been replaced with hand weeding within the management 
plan.  Subject to the resolution of the other outstanding matter the management plan could 
lead to an overall nature conservation enhancement.  By leading to a nature conservation 
enhancement, the proposal would comply with the objectives of policy NE11 of the Local 
Plan, which seeks to conserve, enhance and interpret nature conservation interests. 
 
Highways 
The existing vehicular access from Chelford Road is to be used to serve the proposed 
development, and parking for 5 vehicles will be provided within the site.  The proposed 
access and parking arrangements are considered to be acceptable having regard to the 
existing use of the site and the Strategic Highways Manager raises no objection to the 
proposal.  No significant highways safety issues are therefore raised. 
 
Trees / Woodland 
The application follows pre-application discussion with the Council’s Arboricultural Officer, 
and a Woodland Management Plan has been submitted, which sets out the way in which the 
woodland will be managed over the next 10 years.   
 
The construction of the proposed log cabin and space around it will require the removal of 
some sixteen Larch and Birch which form part of the north east edge of the woodland.  It is 
accepted by the Arboricultural Officer that these trees are of poor quality and have no 
significant merit in terms of visual amenity nor do they contribute to the composition of the 
woodland.   Irrespective of any development proposals, these trees would merit removal as 
part of any required management of the woodland.  
 
The Council’s Arboricultural Officer notes that the woodland has long been recognised as one 
of the most important woodlands in the area, in terms of its size and prominence and 
contribution to the local landscape in and around Knutsford.  In addition he acknowledges that 
some parts of the woodland will enter into decline without long term management and 
intervention. 
 
The submitted Management Plan sets out proposals for the management of the woodland 
over a 10 year period with a series of management operations with the aim of improving the 
structure and species diversity of the woodland, eradicating invasive rhododendron, removal 
of neglected plantation stands, selective felling to enable the development of better 
specimens and recognition of veteran trees, re-stocking felled areas and improving species 
diversity in areas of Birch regeneration.  
 
The Arboricultural Officer considers that the proposed Woodland Management Plan will 
provide an environmental benefit in the longer term by improving the age structure, species 
composition and biodiversity of the woodland, thereby maintaining its prominence and 
strategic importance within the local landscape.   
 
By enhancing the existing woodland through the implementation of the management plan 
proposals, the proposal complies with the objectives of policy NE7 of the Local Plan, which 

Page 30



outlines that the Council will seek to retain and enhance existing woodlands by woodland 
management. 
 
Green Belt 
This proposal differs from the application withdrawn earlier this year by removing the storage 
shed and wood cutting building from the proposal.  In the current scheme all the existing 
buildings / sheds will remain on the site together with the proposed dwelling. 
 
As the current application relates to the erection of a new dwelling in the Green Belt, the 
proposal is defined as inappropriate development in the Green Belt by both the National 
Planning Policy Framework and policy GC1 of the Local Plan.  Such development should not 
be approved except in very special circumstances.  Inappropriate development is, by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt, and it is for the applicant to justify that the harm by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other, harm is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations.   
 
In addition to the harm by reason of inappropriateness, it is considered that there would also 
be a reduction in the openness of the Green Belt, arising from the proposed dwelling.  The 
dwelling will have ridge height of 7.5 metres and a footprint of 123 square metres.  Whilst the 
extent of built form has been reduced from the previous scheme, a dwelling of this scale will 
still serve to reduce the openness of the Green Belt.  The preservation of openness is a 
primary aim of Green Belt policy, and it is considered that substantial harm should be 
attached to developments that serve to reduce the openness of the Green Belt. 
 
Very Special Circumstances 
The applicants maintain that it is essential for the safe and efficient working of the woodland 
management for living accommodation to be provided on site.  The supporting information put 
forward on behalf of the applicants does not identify the proposed dwelling as being 
inappropriate in the Green Belt.  Therefore very special circumstances are not specifically 
outlined within the application.  However, they identify a number of factors that weigh in 
favour of the development are referred to in the application documents.  These include: 

• Dwelling is demountable 
• Will provide security for the woodland 
• Long term future of woodland secured through woodland management 
• Ecological enhancement 

 
The most significant of these considerations is the long term future of the woodland secured 
through woodland management.  As noted above Windmill Wood has long been recognised 
as one of the most important woodlands in the area, in terms of its size and prominence and 
contribution to the local landscape in and around Knutsford.  The woodland will enter into 
decline without long term management and intervention.  This application serves to facilitate 
the retention of the woodland which will be to the benefit of the area as a whole, and is 
compliant with the NPPF by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes.  As such the 
considerations outlined above are considered to represent the very special circumstances 
required to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and loss of 
openness.  It should be noted that given that the woodland land is one of the most important 
woodlands in the area, and be managed for the foreseeable future it is necessary to secure 
the management plan via legal agreement rather than by condition.  The applicants have 

Page 31



shown their acknowledgement of this by submitting a draft unilateral undertaking with the 
application.  
 
Heads of Terms 
Given the very special circumstances of the application and the requirement to manage the 
woodland in perpetuity, should Members be minded to approve the application, then the legal 
agreement would be required to include the following matters: 
 

• The occupancy of the dwelling is only to be in association with the management of 
Windmill Wood in perpetuity 

• The woodland management plan has to be submitted to the council and approved prior 
to the commencement of development on the house 

• The woodland management plan has to be implemented fully in accordance with the 
terms of the plan – and any amendments are to be prior approved by the Council  

• If the plan is not implemented fully, or ceases to be implemented at all, the house has 
to be removed within 12 months of that date 

• If the site is disposed of, the house shall cease to be occupied on completion of the 
sale and be removed from the site within 12 months 

 
Levy (CIL) Regulations 
In order to comply with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 it is now 
necessary for planning applications with legal agreements to consider the issue of whether 
the requirements within the S106 satisfy the following:  
 
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
(b) directly related to the development; and   
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
The management of the woodland for the foreseeable future represents the very special 
circumstances required to outweigh the identified the harm to the Green Belt, and is therefore 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms.  The dwelling is directly 
related to the management of the woodland as it would be occupied by the person 
responsible for the implementation of the plan.  The provision of the dwelling would help to 
sustain the long term future of the woodland, which would be a benefit to the area as a whole.  
On this basis the woodland management plan and the restrictions on the dwelling directly 
relate to the development and are fair and reasonable in relation to the scale and kind of 
development.  
 
CONCLUSIONS AND REASON(S) FOR THE DECISION 
 
The proposal is an inappropriate form of development in the Green Belt that reduces 
openness. However, Windmill Wood is one of the most important woodlands in the area and 
its long term improvement is considered to outweigh the identified harm to the Green Belt.  
Accordingly a recommendation of approval is made subject to conditions and the completion 
of the unilateral undertaking. 
 
 
Application for Full Planning 
 

Page 32



RECOMMENDATION: Approve subejct to a Section 106 Agreement and the following 
conditions 

 
1. A03FP      -  Commencement of development (3 years)                                                                       

2. A01AP      -  Development in accord with approved plans                                                                    

3. A02EX      -  Submission of samples of building materials                                                                    

4. A01GR      -  Removal of permitted development rights                                                                        

5. A22GR      -  Protection from noise during construction (hours of construction)                                   

6. A12LP      -  Subsequent removal of building                                                                                        

7. A01TR      -  Tree retention                                                                                                                    

8. A02TR      -  Tree protection                                                                                                                                                                          

9. A01LS      -  Landscaping - submission of details                                                                                                                                        

10. A02LS      -  Submission of landscaping scheme                                                                                                                             

11. A17MC      -  Decontamination of land                                                                                                                        

12. Occupancy                                                                                                                                            

13. Development in accordance with arboricultural statement                                                                                         

Page 33



 
 

(c) Crown copyright and database rights 2012. Ordnance Survey 
100049045, 100049046. 

Page 34


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 11/1803M - White Peak Alpaca Farm, Paddock Hill Lane, Mobberley WA16 7DB: Erection of Dwelling
	7 11/3269M - Windmill Wood, Chelford Road, Ollerton, Knutsford, Cheshire WA16 8RX: Proposed New Dwelling in Association with Existing Managed Woodland Business

